2/52

FILE 10579-0

NOV 2 6 2018

No. 35372-9-III

COURT OF APPEAL DIVISION II STATE OF WASHING By.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ERIK McCONNELL JOHNSON and JACKIE McCONNELL JOHNSON, Petitioners, VS.

CONNELL OIL, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Petitioners

BRIAN G CAMERON, WSBA #44905 Cameron Sutherland, PLLC 421 W. Riverside Ave., Ste 660 Spokane, WA 99201 TEL. (509) 415-4507

ALAN L. McNEIL, WSBA #7930 Cameron Sutherland, PLLC 421 W. Riverside Ave., Ste 660 Spokane, WA 99201 TEL. (509) 415-8390

•

3

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Erik McConnell Johnson and Jackie McConnell Johnson, Petitioners, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this motion.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On October 25, 2018, the Division III Court of Appeals affirmed the May 25, 2017, decision of the Franklin County Superior Court in favor of Respondent Connell Oil, Inc., finding that the federal Truth in Lending Act's (TILA) limitations on cardholder liability for unauthorized use of credit cards, did not apply to the card Petitioners Erick and Jackie McConnell Johnson used to access credit in this case.

The appellate court's decision, which stands in stark contrast to established public policies regarding protections for unauthorized credit card use, appears to be the first and only published Opinion on this issue from any state or federal court in the United States. With countless cardholders using essentially the same type of card to access credit at nearly 60,000 sites throughout Washington and across the nation¹, the appellate court's erroneous ruling may become a false beacon for courts

¹ See <u>https://www.connelloil.com/card-lock/</u>. (November 26, 2018).

applying TILA not only in this state, but also far beyond. This matter therefore represents an issue of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by Washington's highest court.

A copy of the appellate court's Opinion is in the Appendix herein at pages A-1 through A-13. Petitioners did not file a Motion for Reconsideration.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in ruling that the card the Johnsons used to obtain credit in this case was not a "credit card" under the federal Truth-In-Lending Act (TILA), 15 USC §1601, *et seq.*, and Regulation Z (hereinafter "Reg. Z), 12 CFR § 226, *et seq.*, being a "card, plate, coupon book or other credit device existing for the purpose of obtaining money, property, labor, or services on credit." 15 USC § 1602(1).

2. Whether the express language of TILA is superseded by a narrow exclusion in 12 CFR § 226, Supp.1 (A) § 226.2(a)(15)(2)(ii)(B), notwithstanding the fact that the "cardlock" cards at issue now integrate the same credit-bearing features as any other credit cards, along with those cardlock cards' traditional lock-and-key function?

3. If the express language of the statute is superseded by federal staff commentaries, does the credit access device issued by

Connell Oil fall within the narrow exclusion suggested in 12 CFR § 226, Supp.1 (A) § 226.2(a)(15)(2)(ii)(B)?

4. If the credit access device issued by Connell Oil is a "credit card" under TILA, are the cardholders in this case entitled to limitations on liability for their stolen card under 12 CFR § 226.12(b)(1)(ii) and disclosures regarding the same under 12 CFR § 226.12(b)(2)(ii)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 27, 2014, Mr. Erik Johnson was farming near Deer Park in Spokane County, Washington, when his wallet was stolen from his farm vehicle. *Connell Oil Inc. v. Johnson*, 2018 Wn. App. LEXIS 2454, *3, 2018 WL 5289383; Appendix A. The next day, Mr. Johnson reported the theft to Spokane County law enforcement officials and began contacting issuers of his stolen credit and debit cards. (*Id.*) On July 31, 2014, Mr. Johnson telephoned Connell Oil (a.k.a. "Co-energy") to cancel the sto0len card, but Connell Oil failed to do so. (*Id.*) On or about September 8, 2014, Connell Oil notified Mr. Johnson that it had terminated his account due to suspicious activity. (*Id.*) Connell Oil subsequently demanded that the Johnsons pay the company \$34,649.48 for charges incurred on the card after it was stolen. (*Id.* at *4). On May 1, 2015, an individual was

sentenced for first degree identity theft in relation to the theft of Mr. Johnsons' Connell Oil card.²

Connell Oil calls the credit access devices it issued to the Johnsons (and other cardholders) "Cardlock" cards, which is a reference to the plastic keys or holed "punch cards" that were once used to unlock fuel pumps, hotel rooms, airport lockers, and other limited-access portals. (*Id.* at *3). Similar to the way a hotel keycard operates today, the old "Cardlock" devices could unlock a fuel pump or other portal, but the devices themselves could not substantiate credit transactions the way a typical magnetized credit card does today. *Id.*

While these "Cardlock" devices began as literally metal keys, the device Connell Oil issued to the Johnsons was a magnetized card that was indistinguishable in form, function, and operation from a typical credit card. *Id.* Not only did the device unlock the pump, but it also allowed a user to charge potentially tens of thousands of dollars in fuel purchases to its account number, which was listed on the card and encoded on a magnetic strip, or "magstripe," common to all other credit cards. *Id.*

To obtain fuel on credit, Connell Oil's cardholders are required to 1) swipe their cards, then 2) enter a personal identification number, or

² See Spokane County Superior Court cause #14-1-03998-1.

PIN, then 3) enter a vehicle number, then 4) obtain fuel from the pump on credit, which is 5) invoiced by Connell Oil and paid by cardholders at a later date. (*Id.* at *2-4). Unlike a traditional "Cardlock" key, which could only be used to open a portal, no matter how a person ultimately paid for the product, the device that Connell Oil issued to the Johnsons was both a key **and** the means by which cardholders obtain Connell Oil's products on credit. (*Id*). This is especially significant in the context of the fundamental public policies and essential protections TILA seeks to provide to cardholders. *See, e.g., Telco Communications Group, Inc. v. Race Rock, 57 F. Supp.* 2d 340, 345 (E.D. Va. 1999) (ultimate purpose of TILA's limitations on liability is to protect cardholders from unauthorized use, regardless of the terms of credit being accessed).

On February 14, 2016, Connell Oil served the Johnsons with a Complaint alleging that the married couple was liable for \$34,649.48 in stolen-card charges, plus interest, costs, and fees. (*Id.* at *4). The Johnsons filed an Answer with affirmative defenses, including limitations on cardholder liability for lost or stolen cards under 12 CFR § 226.12(b)(1)(ii), among others, as well as counterclaims alleging violations of TILA, Washington's Consumer Protection Act (CPA), RCW 19.86, *et seq.*, and negligence. (*Id.* at *4).

On April 10, 2017, the lower court heard the parties' cross motions for summary judgment, ruled that TILA did not apply to this case, and found substantially in favor of Connell Oil on each of its claims and against the Johnsons on each of theirs. Following the Johnsons' timely appeal, the Division III Court of Appeals published its Opinion affirming the lower court in *Connell Oil Inc. v. Johnson*, 2018 Wn. App. LEXIS 2454, 2018 WL 5289383; Appendix A.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This court should accept review for two reasons. First, the liability of credit cardholders for unauthorized use involved an issue of substantial public interest, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4). Second, the lowers courts' rulings conflict with established state laws and federal policies, which implicate further conflicts subject to RAP 13.4(b)1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2).

A. The Liability of Cardholders for Unauthorized Use of Credit Cards Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

According to the American Bankers Association, there are more than 362 million credit card accounts in the United States, which amounts to more than one card for every person of every age in the county.³ Appendix B. In a state of approximately 7.5 million, such as Washington, these same proportions would equate to more than eight million credit cards being used by residents of this state. While statistics regarding the number of "Cardlock" cards are more elusive, Connell Oil advertises that its cards are accepted at more than 60,000 sites throughout Washington and across the nation.⁴ Appendix C.

The sheer volume of credit cards and the prevalence of their use have led to an extensive body of state and federal laws designed to regulate card issuers, deter would-be identity thieves and protect cardholders from unauthorized use. The Fair Credit Billing Act (FCBA), which is integrated within the broader provisions of TILA at 15 USC § 1643, and implemented by Regulation Z ("Reg. Z") at 12 CFR § 226, *et seq.*, provides sweeping protections for all credit cardholders, beyond just consumer credit applications, to include "any person to whom a credit card is issued for any purpose, including business, commercial or agricultural use." 12 CFR § 226.2(a)(8).

³ See

https://www.aba.com/Press/Documents/ABA.CreditCardMonitor.2018Q1.V4%20(01.24. 18).pdf. (November 26, 2018).

⁴ See https://www.connelloil.com/card-lock/. (November 26, 2018).

Notwithstanding the ubiquitous use of credit cards and seemingly universal protections afforded to cardholders by state and federal law, the matter between Connell Oil and the Johnsons appears to be the first and only case to have generated a published opinion on the question of whether TILA's cardholder protections apply to credit cards that also unlock a fuel pump. Although the Court of Appeals acknowledges that the Johnsons' card may be used "for the purpose of obtaining money, property, labor, or services on credit," 15 USC § 1602(l), just as any other credit card, it found that its other function of "unlock[ing] an unmanned fuel pump to facilitate a wholesale purchase of gasoline," removed it from the otherwise expansive protections of TILA based on an obscure exemption in the FTB staff commentaries at 12 CFR § 226, Supp.1 (A) § 226.2(a)(15)(2)(ii)(B). *Connell Oil Inc. v. Johnson*, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 2454, *10, 2018 WL 5289383; Appendix A.

Given the extensive use of credit cards in Washington and the United States, whether or not they include so-called "cardlock" features, as well as the attendant costs and risks of theft and loss leading to massive potential losses for unprotected cardholders, only Washington's highest court should set the beacon by which credit cardholders, credit card issuers, and other courts in this state and beyond will resolve disputes

involving credit cards that have integrated features that might otherwise be exempted from TILA's protections.

B. The Lower Courts' Rulings Conflict with Established Laws and Public Policies Regarding Protections for Unauthorized Use.

In acknowledging that Connell Oil's "Cardlock" card included both a credit feature, which is covered by TILA, but ruling that a lockand-key feature removed it from TILA's protections, the Court of Appeals published a decision that stands in stark contrast to established laws and public policies regarding unauthorized use of credit cards.

Telco Communications Group, Inc. v. Race Rock, 57 F. Supp. 2d 340 (E.D. Va. 1999) presents federal authority that is highly analogous to the present matter. In Telco, a telephone card issuer sued a business cardholder for more than \$92,000 in unauthorized charges to a telephone calling card. Id. at 341. Recognizing that "public utility credit" is normally exempt from Reg. Z, the court ruled that any card that permitted a cardholder "to defer payment on the purchase … until the invoice was due and payable" is subject to Reg. Z's limitations on cardholders' liability for lost or stolen cards. Id. at 343; see 12 CFR § 226.12(b)(1)(ii) (limiting cardholder liability for unauthorized charges to a maximum of

\$50.00). In so ruling, the court was not persuaded by the issuer's arguments that its card "merely provides a method for accessing its public utility function from alternate sites and [has] no independent or potential credit function," *id.*, or that "[t]he card can only be used to purchase telephone time, not other items normally bought with consumer credit," *id.*, or that "the entire bill is due and payable in full upon receipt of each monthly invoice." *Id.* In granting the cardholder's Motion to Dismiss, the *Telco* court aptly noted:

Because the purpose of § 226.12(b) is to protect consumers, it makes little difference if the entire telephone bill is due and payable at the end of the month, or if the consumer chooses to pay a finance fee. The distinctions between credit cards and charge cards—and credit cards and telephone calling cards for that matter—are irrelevant to the ultimate goal of protecting the consumer from being liable for unauthorized use."

Id. at 345.

As with the business telephone card at issue in *Telco*, Connell Oil's "Cardlock" card permits its cardholders to "defer payment on purchases" until its invoices are due and payable, subject to the clear and expressly stated applicability of TILA and Reg. Z to any device that exists "for the purpose of obtaining money, property, labor, or services on credit," 15

USC § 1602(1), and devices that "may be used from time to time to obtain credit," 12 CFR § 226.2(15)(i). The lower court's ruling not only contradicts the clear and express language of the statute, but it also undermines TILA's fundamental purpose.

This federal perspective is also reflected in official consumer outreach publications produced by the Federal Trade Commission, which advise cardholders to do exactly what the Johnsons did in response to lost or stolen credit or debit cards.⁵ Appendix D. Nowhere does the FTC advise cardholders to do something different if their credit cards also have a lock-and-key feature, presumably because it is the credit-bearing feature that demands TILA's protections. *Id.*

Consistent with this federal authority, Washington law also focuses on the credit-bearing features of credit cards, regardless of whatever other features might be integrated with them. Washington's criminal statutes echo TILA's definition of a "credit card" as "a card, plate, booklet, credit card number, credit card account number, or other identifying symbol, instrument or device that can be used to pay for, or to obtain on credit, goods or services." RCW 9A.56.280(3). There is no exemption for a device that satisfies this definition in every respect and also happens to

⁵ See <u>https://www.consumer.ftc.gov/articles/pdf-0075-lost-or-stolen-credit-atm-and-debit-cards.pdf</u>. (November 26, 2018).

unlock a fuel pump. *Id.* If there were such an exemption, then the thief who stole the Johnsons' card would not be liable under the state's criminal statute pertaining to unauthorized credit card use. RCW 9A.56.290. It makes little sense for Washington courts to consider the Johnsons' card to be a "credit card" for purposes of prosecuting the thief, then disregard the same credit-bearing features of the card when it comes to applying statutory protections designed for exactly those circumstances.

Because the Court of Appeals' Opinion appears to be the first and only published decision on this issue, while at the same time conflicting with analogous federal and state authorities, this issue should be resolved by the full and final authority of Washington's Supreme Court.

F. CONCLUSION

This court should accept review for the reasons indicated in part E and find that: 1) TILA's application to "any card, plate, coupon book or other credit device existing for the purpose of obtaining money, property, labor, or services on credit," 15 USC § 1602(l), applies to the credit-pluskey card at issue in this case, and 2) the cardholders implicated in this case entitled to limitations on liability for unauthorized use under 12 CFR § 226.12(b)(1)(ii) and disclosures regarding the same under 12 CFR § 226.12(b)(2)(ii). In so doing, the Court of Appeals should be reversed.