FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/27/2018 2:43 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

96579-0

No. 35372-9-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CONNELL OIL,

Respondent,

v.

ERIK McCONNELL JOHNSON and JACKIE McCONNELL JOHNSON,

Petitioners.

CONNELL OIL'S ANSWER OPPOSING PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian G. Davis, WSBA No. 43521 LEAVY SCHULTZ DAVIS, P.S. 2415 W. Falls Ave. Kennewick, WA 99336 bdavis@tricitylaw.com Attorney for Respondent Connell Oil

II.	RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE		
III.	ARGUMENT		
	A.	The issue of whether a cardlock is a credit card under TILA is not of substantial public interest	
	B.	The Court of Appeals' ruling does not conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals	
	C.	The Court of Appeals' ruling does not contradict the language of TILA or undermine TILA's fundamental purpose	
	D.	The Court of Appeals' ruling does not contradict analogous authorities	
IV.	CON	CLUSION14	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Table of Cases (10.4(g))

Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. Natural Resources Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 104 S.Ct. 2778 (1984)
Connell Oil, Inc. v. Johnson, 429 P.3d *1 (2018)
Ford Motor Credit Co. v. Milhollin, 444 U.S. 555, 100 S. Ct. 790 (1980)11
Hamm v. Ameriquest Mortg. Co., 506 F.3d 525 (7th Cir. 2007)12
Household Credit Servs. v. Pfennig, 541 U.S. 232, 124 S. Ct. 1741 (2004 2003)11
In re Pers. Restraint of Flippo, 380 P.3d 413 (2016)
State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903(2005)
Swanson v. Bank of Am., N.A., 566 F. Supp.2d 821 (N.D. III. 2008)12
Telco Communications Group, Inc. v. Race Rock, 57 F. Supp. 340 (E.D. Va. 1999)10
Code of Federal Regulations
12 CFR § 2261—2
Federal Reserve Board's Official Commentary
12 CFR § 226, Supp. 1 (A) § 226.2 (a)(15)(2)(ii)(B)

Washington RCW	
RCW 9A.56.280	13, 1

I. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Is the cardlock issued by Connell Oil, Inc. (hereinafter "Connell Oil") a "credit card" under TILA and Regulation Z?
- 2. Is the express language of TILA and Regulation Z supplemented by federal staff commentaries pertaining to certain cards, keys, plates, or other devices that are "used in order to obtain petroleum product for business purposes from a wholesale distribution facility or to gain access to that facility, and [are] required to be used without regard to payment terms"? 12 CFR § 226, Supp. 1 (A) § 226.2(a)(15)(2)(ii)(B).
- 3. If the express language of TILA and Regulation Z is supplemented by federal staff commentaries, does the cardlock issued by Connell Oil meet the exclusion stated in 12 CFR § 226, Supp. 1 (A) § 226.2(a)(15)(2)(ii)(B)?
- 4. If the cardlock issued by Connell Oil is not a "credit card" under TILA, are the cardholders in this case entitled to limitations on liability for their stolen cardlock under 12 CFR § 226.12(b)(1)(ii) and disclosures regarding the same under 12 CFR § 226.12(b)(2)(ii)?
- 5. If the cardlock issued by Connell Oil is a "credit card" under TILA, and if the cardholders in this case are entitled to limitations on liability for their stolen cardlock under 12 CFR § 226.12(b)(1)(ii) and

disclosures regarding the same under 12 CFR § 226.12(b)(2)(ii), is Connell Oil nonetheless immune from civil liability pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1640(f) for its good faith reliance on the Federal Reserve Board's official interpretation of the definition of "credit card" under TILA and Regulation Z contained in the Federal Reserve Board's Official Commentary?

II. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Connell Oil, Inc. ("Connell Oil") is in the business of selling and distributing wholesale fuel for commercial purposes. CP 410. It contracts with qualified applicants to provide them access to a select number of fueling stations that are not operated or overseen by full time employees. *Id.* These stations are recognized as Pacific Pride Stations and are commonly used by police, fire, transit, and school districts. *Id.*

Approved applicants use a device known as a "cardlock" to gain access to fuel pumps. *Id.* Through a magnetic strip, the cardlock communicates to the computer the account number of the customer and what type of fuel the customer is permitted to access. *Id.* For security, the customer must enter in an acess code, or pin number, before the pump is activated. *Id.* In addition, the customer is prompted to disclose other information such as their vehicle's mileage. CP 410. For further security, customers are provided locations for cardlock stations, pin numbers, and

instructions to keep the pin number separate from the cardlock. *Id.* Once the customer completes fueling, an invoice is generated for the specific amount of fuel purchased and sent to the customer for payment. Customers are required to pay that invoice in full. *Id.*

Qualified applicants must be approved before gaining access to fuel. Invoices are sent to the customer on the 15th and the end of a given month. CP 411. The invoices are due in full and, without making specific arrangements, a customer must pay the total amount due or risk having their cardlock access denied. *Id*.

Appellants, Erik Johnson and Jackie Johnson (hereinafter the "Johnsons") were partners who owned and operated an agricultural business in Eltopia, Washington. *Id.* Under that capacity, the Johnsons entered into a contract for access to the cardlock system. In fact, multiple contracts for access into the cardlock system were executed since 2009. CP 411—12, 415—20. The Johnsons each had a cardlock and also assigned a cardlock to employees. CP 326, 374—94.

The Johnsons agreed to the terms of the contract which include, "I hereby request that Connell Oil, Inc. issue me / my company the following cardlock cards. I accept responsibility for payment of all charges applied to these cards." CP 411—12, 415—20. They further agreed that "If a card is lost or stolen, I understand that I am responsible for payment of all

charges for 24 hours after I inform Connell Oil, Inc. in writing to invalidate the card." *Id.* The language of the contract makes it a point to bold the text, "in writing." *Id.*

The Johnsons claim that on or about July 27, 2014, Mr. Johnson's wallet was stolen from his truck. CP 412. Contained within the wallet was a Connell Oil cardlock with the accompanying pin number. *Id.* Mr. Johnson claimed he contacted Connell Oil by phone on July 31, 2014 to request the stolen cardlock to be shut off. *Id.* However, according to Connell Oil, the context of the conversation was to request new cardlocks. *Id.* In response, Connell Oil sent the proper form to request new cardlock cards. *Id.* On the bottom of this request is a section where the customer can request a cardlock to be invalidated. CP 412—13, 423—24. The form was never returned to Connell Oil. In fact, it is undisputed that the Johnsons never requested to have the stolen cardlock invalidated in writing. CP 413.

On or about September 8, 2014, Connell Oil was alerted by Banner Fuel of suspicious activity on one of the Johnsons' cardlocks. *Id.* In response, Connell Oil contacted the Johnsons and the cardlock was deactivated. *Id.* During that time, the cardlock was used to access fuel distribution centers. *Id.* Due to the fact that the cardlock was accompanied

¹ This is contrary to the facts that the Johnsons state.

with the pin number, the fuel obtained was invoiced under the Johnsons' account. *Id.* In all, \$34,649.68 was invoiced. *Id.* While the fuel was being accessed, Connell Oil continued to invoice the Johnsons in its usual course. *Id.* Even so, the Johnsons never alerted Connell Oil or requested to have the card deactivated in writing. *Id.*

Connell Oil demanded payment and the Johnsons objected. CP 413. The Johnsons initiated an investigation by complaint to the Attorney General of Washington State, Consumer Protection Division. CP 414. After conclusion of their investigation into a violation of the Consumer Protection Act, the Johnsons' complaint was closed without penalty or assessment. CP 414, 427—33. Connell Oil again demanded payment.

Suit was filed by Connell Oil for breach of contract. CP 1—5. The Johnsons answered and asserted an affirmative defense that Connell Oil's claim was barred by operation of the Truth and Lending Act (TILA), 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et. seq. CP 6—11.

On April 10, 2017, the lower court heard the parties' cross motion for summary judgment and correctly ruled that TILA and Regulation Z did not apply in this case because Connell Oil's cardlocks do not meet the TILA definition of "credit card." RP 1, 36—37; CP 278. The Johnsons subsequently filed their appeal.

On October 25, 2018, the Court of Appeals, Division III, published its opinion affirming the lower court. Specifically, the Court of Appeals found the following: (1) that Congress did not directly speak to the precise question of whether cardlocks used to access fuel pumps at unmanned stations are credit cards; (2) that the Federal Reserve Board's (hereinafter "Board") commentary at 12 CFR § 226, Supp. 1 (A) § 226.2(a)(15)(2)(ii)(B) (hereinafter "Exclusion") was not arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to TILA and was therefore binding; and (3) because the cardlocks fell into the Exclusion, the cardlocks were not subject to the provisions of TILA. Connell Oil, Inc. v. Johnson, 429 P.3d 1, 6 (2018).

After the Court of Appeals issued its ruling, the Johnsons filed the pending motion seeking discretionary review.

III. ARGUMENT

The Johnsons advance two arguments for discretionary review. First, they argue that the implications of the Court of Appeals' decision involves an issue of substantial public interest that warrants review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Johnsons then argue that "the lower courts' rulings conflict with established state laws and federal policies" and that this implicates review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Each of the Johnsons' arguments is unpersuasive. As such, the Court should deny review.

A. The issue of whether a cardlock is a credit card under TILA is not of substantial public interest.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only "[i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." "A decision that has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue." In re Pers. Restraint of Flippo, 380 P.3d 413, 414—15 (2016) (citing State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903(2005)).

In *State v. Watson* the Court of Appeals made a sua sponte ruling that a memorandum a prosecuting attorney circulated to all Pierce County Superior Court Judges constituted improper ex parte communication with the trial court. Although this ruling was ultimately germane to the outcome of the case, the State sought discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' determination on the improper ex parte communication, citing RAP 13.4(b)(4) as grounds for review.

The Supreme Court granted review of the decision because of its "sweeping implications". *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d at 578. Specifically,

the decision presented a "prime example of an issue of substantial public interest" because "the court's treatment of communications as ex parte in later proceedings ha[d] the potential to chill policy actions taken by both attorneys and judges" and had "the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County". *Id.* at 577.

Here, the Johnson's contend that the issue of whether a cardlock is a credit card under TILA is of substantial public interest because there are a lot of credit card accounts in the United States. *See* Petition pp. 6—7. As a preliminary matter, this argument relies upon materials not part of the record on review. *Id.* As such, pursuant to RAP 10.3(a)(8), the Court should refuse to review Johnsons' Appendix B and C.

Second, unlike *State v. Watson*, the issues advanced by the Johnson's do not have "sweeping implications" and do not have the "potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts" so as to warrant review in the hopes of "avoid[ing] unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue." *In re Pers. Restraint of Flippo*, 380 P.3d 413, 414—15 (2016). As the Johnson's aptly pointed out, there are no other court decisions, in any state or federal jurisdiction, concerning the specific issue of whether cardlocks are governed by TILA. *See* Petition pp. 8, 12. Furthermore, the Johnsons presented no arguments to suggest that

there are or will be an abundance of cases concerning the same narrow issue.

The issues the Johnsons have presented to this Court simply are not common and additional review will not help to avoid unnecessary litigation or provide new protections to the public at large. As such, the Court should deny the Johnsons' request for review.

B. The Court of Appeals' ruling does not conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 13.4(b)(2), the Court may accept a petition for review of a decision of the Court of Appeals *only* if that decision "is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court," or "is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals." Here, as the Johnsons conceded, there is no decision, published or otherwise, from this Court or the Court of Appeals that concerns the narrow issues petitioned for review. *See* Petition pp. 8, 12. Thus, under the plain language of RAP 13.4(b)(1)—(2), the Court should not accept review because the issues the Johnsons presented are not in conflict with *any* decision rendered in *any* court of the State of Washington, let alone any other state or federal jurisdiction.

C. The Court of Appeals' ruling does not contradict the language of TILA or undermine TILA's fundamental purpose.

The Johnson's maintain that grounds for review exist under RAP 13.4(b)(1)—(2) because the Court of Appeals decision is contrary to the express language and purpose of TILA. Again, this argument and basis for review does not satisfy any of the circumstances under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (b)(2) and should alone serve as basis for the Court to deny review.

The Johnsons rely upon the decision in *Telco Communications* Group, Inc. v. Race Rock to support this contention. 57 F. Supp. 2d 340 (E.D. Va. 1999) (hereinafter "Telco"). Specifically, the Johnsons argue that because the court in Telco found that telephone calling cards met TILA's definition of credit card, then the Court of Appeals decision that cardlock cards are excluded from the TILA definition is contrary to the express language of the statute. See Petition pp. 9—11.

However, *Telco* is distinct from the case before the Court for two reasons. First, in *Telco* the court was faced with determining whether telephone calling cards were credit cards under TILA. *Id.* at 343. The substance of cardlock cards and telephone calling cards is distinct.

Second, the court in *Telco* relied upon and applied the TILA definition of credit card because the Commentary did not contain any guidance on telephone calling cards. *Id.* Here, the Court of Appeals did

have guidance with the Exclusion and found that because the cardlocks in question met they Exclusion, they were not included in TILA's definition of credit card.

The distinctions between the present case and *Telco* perhaps prompted the Court of Appeals to apply the long-standing *Chevron* deference test in reaching its decision. *See Connell Oil*, 429 P.3d at 6. To determine if the Board's regulations and/ or interpretations of TILA are binding, courts are "faced with only two questions." *Household Credit Servs. v. Pfennig*, 541 U.S. 232, 239, 124 S. Ct. 1741 (2004). First, the court must ask if "Congress has directly spoken to the precise question at issue." *Id.* (citing *Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc.*, 467 U.S. 837, 842, 104 S. Ct. 2778 (1984)).

Second, if "Congress has 'explicitly left a gap for the agency to fill,' the agency's regulation is 'given controlling weight unless [it is] arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to the statute." *Id.* (citing *Chevron*, 467 U.S. at 843—44 (1984)). Said otherwise, the Board's regulations and official interpretations are dispositive unless they are "demonstrably irrational." *Ford Motor Credit Co. v. Milhollin*, 444 U.S. 555, 564, 100 S. Ct. 790 (1980). In analyzing TILA claims, a court—

"looks to the language of the statute, the implementing regulation, and the relevant [Board] Commentary. Congress has expressly delegated to the [Board] the authority to prescribe regulations –

including "Regulation Z," 12 C.F.R. § 226.1, et seq. – to effectuate the purpose of TILA. The Court must "pay particular heed" to the Board's Official Commentary when interpreting TILA, and '[u]nless demonstrably irrational, [the Board's] staff opinion construing [TILA] or Regulation should be dispositive."

Swanson v. Bank of Am., N.A., 566 F. Supp.2d 821 (N.D. III. 2008) (citing Household, 541 U.S. at 238) (quoting Hamm v. Ameriquest Mortg. Co., 506 F.3d 525, 528 (7th Cir. 2007)).

Here, the Court of Appeals first found that the TILA, and therefore Congress, did not directly speak to the precise question of whether cardlock cards used to access fuel pumps at unmanned stations are credit cards. *Connell Oil, Inc. v. Johnson*, 429 P.3d 1, 6 (2018). Next, the Court of Appeals found that the Exclusion under the Commentary was not arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to TILA and was therefore binding. *Id.* Finally, the Court of Appeals found that under the Exclusion, the cardlocks were excluded from and not subject to the provisions of TILA. *Id.*

Contrary to the Johnsons' arguments, the Court of Appeals' decision and reliance upon the Exclusion is not contrary to the clear and express language of TILA. If Congress had intended for cardlocks to be included in the definition of TILA, Congress would have amended the statutory provisions to state that the Exclusion was inapplicable. The Court of Appeals echoed this position in finding that with the Exclusion,

the Board "reasonably concluded that Congress had no more desire to regulate a cardlock than it had to regulate a keylock or an optical-lock device." *Connell Oil*, 429 P.3d at 6. Because the Court of Appeals decision does not contradict TILA, the Court should deny the Johnsons' request for review. The Court should also deny review because this ground for review does not qualify as any of the circumstances justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (b)(2).

D. The Court of Appeals' ruling does not contradict analogous authorities.

The Johnsons maintain that a ground for review exists under RAP 13.4(b)(1)—(2) because the Court of Appeals decision is contrary to analogous state authorities concerning protections for victims of lost or stolen credit cards. *See* Petition pp. 11—12. Again, this argument and basis for review does not satisfy any of the circumstances under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (b)(2) and should alone serve as basis for the Court to deny review.

The Johnsons specifically identify that no exemption exists for a device that meets the definition of credit card under RCW 9A.56.280(3) and also unlocks a fuel pump. *Id.* According to the Johnsons, it makes no sense to have a criminal statue in Washington that considers a cardlock to be a credit card for purposes of prosecuting a thief, but not for the

purposes of TILA. *Id.* at 12. As such, the Johnsons argue that the Court should grant review to resolve this purported conflict between federal and state authorities.

Contrary to the Johnsons' argument, the different definitions for credit card under TILA and RCW 9A.56.280(3) do not create a contradiction or a basis for review. It is perfectly logical for a criminal statute that determines criminal liability to have fewer exemptions, and thus fewer opportunities to escape criminal liability, than a civil remedial statute like TILA that only provides civil protections to consumers. Because there is no contradiction to be resolved and because this ground for review does not met the criteria outlined in RAP 13.4(b)(1)—(2), the Court should deny the Johnsons' request for review.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Johnsons failed to raise a single ground for review that satisfies any of the circumstances that would allow the Court to grant discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). As such, Connell Oil respectfully requests that the Court deny the Johnsons' petition for review.